



Jim Doyle
Governor

State of Wisconsin / Educational Approval Board

30 West Mifflin Street
P.O. Box
Madison, Wisconsin 53708-8696
Phone: (608) 266-1996
Fax: (608) 264-8477
EABmail@eab.state.wi.us

David C.
Executive Secretary

ORDER OF THE EDUCATIONAL APPROVAL BOARD AMENDING, REPEALING AND CREATING RULES

The Wisconsin Educational Approval Board (EAB) proposes an order to amend EAB 1.01 (7), (10), (20), and (26), Chapter 3 (title), 3.02 (5) and (8), 4.01 (1), (2), (5) (a) and (b), and (6), 4.02 (1), 4.03 (1)(i) and (n), 4.06 (1), (3), and (5), 4.08 (2)(b)1., 4.10 (2)(d)3., (5)(c) and (d), Chapter EAB 4 (note), 7.02 (intro), 7.03 (intro), 8.05 (intro), 8.07 (3), 10.04 (3); repeal and recreate EAB 1.01 (3) and (23); and create EAB 1.01 (19m), (29m), 3.02 (8), 4.01 (2m)(a) and (b), (4m), (5m)(a) and (b), (6)(b) and (7), 4.06 (6), 4.10 (1)(e), (2)(g) and (5)(f), 7.05, 8.07 (2m), and Chapter EAB 11; relating to the regulation of for-profit postsecondary schools; out-of-state, non-profit colleges and universities; and in-state, non-profit institutions incorporated after 1991.

ANALYSIS PREPARED BY THE EDUCATIONAL APPROVAL BOARD

Statutory Authority: Sections 45.54(2) & (3), 227.11(2), and 227.42 (1), *Wisconsin Statutes*.

Statutes Interpreted: Sections 45.54(2), (3), (7) & (10), *Wisconsin Statutes*.

The rules under chapter EAB were last amended in 1997. As part of a comprehensive update, this rule will clarify existing provisions, correct inconsistencies between rule and statute, codify current board administrative practices, and create new provisions to facilitate the board's regulatory authority.

- Create a definition of "constructive notice".

The proposed rule will create a definition of "constructive notice" as it relates to refund standards for students who withdraw from a school. This definition will clarify when a student will be considered withdrawn from a school because the student failed to attend classes, utilize instructional facilities or submit lessons without providing an explanation to the school regarding the inactivity.

- Create a definition of a "recognized accrediting body".

Accreditation is a formal status granted to an institution meeting or exceeding state educational criteria. The purposes of accreditation are to assess and enhance consistency in institutional operations, promote improvement, and provide for public accountability. There are presently hundreds of different accrediting agencies. However, the U.S. Department of Education (ED)

recognizes only certain regional, national, and specialized accrediting agencies to serve as reliable authorities as to the quality of educational institutions. The proposed rule defines an accrediting body as those recognized by the ED.

- Amend the definition of a "school" so that it is consistent with its statutory usage.
- Amend the definition of a "sponsor" to include a government agency.

Many EAB-approved schools enroll individuals who received funding from government agencies, such as the state Department of Workforce Development and the U.S. Department of Education. These sponsors provide assistance through worker retraining grants, vocational rehabilitation funding, and federal student financial aid, among others. The proposed rule amends the current definition of a sponsor to include a government agency.

- Create a definition of a "teach-out".

The proposed rule defines a teach-out, a term that refers to the completion of an EAB-approved program in which a student enrolled. Typically, a teach-out is used to fulfill the promises made to students when a school closes or does not fulfill its contractual obligations to provide certain education or training services.

- Amend board operating procedures.

The procedures for conducting board meetings are presently identified in rule. In the absence of a specific rule provision, Roberts Rules of Order apply. This proposed rule would give the board the authority to adopt by resolution alternative procedures regarding the manner in which business is conducted, so long as they do not conflict with the rules of Roberts Rules of Order. In addition, the proposed rule would allow board members to participate in board meetings via teleconference or videoconference.

- Clarify the delegation of board responsibilities to staff.

The Educational Approval Board is a seven-member policy-making body whose purpose is to protect the general public by inspecting and approving certain schools doing business within the state. Under current law, the board employs an executive secretary that is charged with performing the administrative functions of the board. This provision is intended to clarify that the board has delegated the executive secretary to perform the board's administrative functions.

- Create a set of intermediate sanctions that the EAB can place upon a school for regulatory violations.

Under current administrative rule, the EAB's authority is restricted to granting, denying, or revoking the approval of a school. While these actions are appropriate for serious school violations, the EAB lacks the ability to address school violations that do not necessarily warrant denying or revoking the school's approval. By creating intermediate sanctions, the EAB would have additional options for dealing with schools that are non-compliant. The proposed rule would allow the board to: [1] require the submission and implementation of a school

improvement plan to address or correct problems identified by the board; and, [2] suspend the enrollment of students for one or more of the approved programs offered by the school. The board would also be able to issue a cease and desist order to any school that operates without proper approval.

- Create a provision allowing the board to waive second payment renewal fees in certain instances.

As a cost efficiency measure, the proposed rule will allow the EAB to waive annual renewal fees that are less than \$50.

- Allow the board to waive the fee associated with a change of ownership if the board determines that no work is required.

This provision is intended to address ownership interest changes that will have no effect on the operations of the school and will require no work by EAB staff other than to file an updated form.

- Clarify that a hearing requested by a school regarding a board action would pertain to either a denial or revocation of approval and would be before an administrative law judge.

The proposed rule makes it explicit that the board has the ability to deny an initial request for school approval, clarifies that a school may request a hearing before the board to contest a decision to deny or revoke school approval, and that any appeal of a board decision would be before an administrative law judge. In addition, the rule specifies the manner in which the board is required to provide notice of such actions.

- Create a provision that requires schools to have a minimum surety bond.

The proposed rule will require schools to have a \$10,000 minimum surety bond. Several years ago, the need for a minimum bond of \$25,000 was eliminated and the current provision to set a bond based on a school's unearned tuition was substituted. The current provision works well for established schools which have unearned tuition. However, in the case of a new school seeking board approval, the current method of determining an appropriate bond level does not work well. Because there is no "history" of unearned tuition, staff must rely on enrollment and revenue projections. It can be a year or more before reliable data is available to know if the bond is set at an appropriate level.

- Allow the board to use a surety bond on which it collects for a teach-out.

The proposed rule would allow the board to use bond proceeds to contract with a provider to teach-out students affected by a school that cannot fulfill its obligations to provide certain education or training services. This authority would help to ensure that a student completes the education or training that they had initially intended to attain.

- Amend the retention of records by schools.

Under current rule, a school only needs to retain student records for 6 years after graduation or the last date of enrollment. This provision clarifies that a school must keep student transcripts indefinitely.

- Create a provision for the retention of closed school records by the board.

In certain situations, the board has become the custodian of student records (e.g., when a school closes and the board secures them to ensure their safekeeping). This provision specifies that the student records in the possession of the board are to be maintained in accordance with retention and disposition authorization procedures established by the state records board and the federal family educational rights and privacy act (FERPA) of 1974.

- Amend the refund provisions pertaining to partial refunds.

Under current rules, there are no provisions that address refunds to students who withdraw or are dismissed prior to beginning classes. This rule clarifies that students who have not started classes are entitled to a partial refund, as determined by rule. In addition, to facilitate refund determinations involving students who stop attending classes but fail to inform the school, the proposed rule will require all schools to have a constructive notice of an intention to withdraw policy. This provision was (inadvertently) eliminated when the rule was last revised.

- Create specific provisions regarding the regulation of distance learning.

Section 45.54 (2), *Wisconsin Statutes*, states that the purpose of the educational approval board is to protect the general public by "approving schools...doing business within the state whether located within or outside this state..." Further, EAB 4.01 (1) states, "[a] school shall not operate, conduct business, offer any programs, advertise or enroll students unless it has been approved or determined to be exempt." Clearly, out-of-state, on-line schools offering programs via distance learning to Wisconsin residents are subject to EAB oversight and regulation.

The educational approval board's current regulatory framework and fee structure for initial school approval was based on an assumption that out-of-state schools delivered programs to classes of students at specific Wisconsin locations. With distance learning via the Internet, delivery is no longer place specific and a new fee structure must reflect this new reality.

Through distance learning, schools can now offer programs in all 50 states and have no physical presence. As in the traditional school model, online schools make money by enrolling classes of students, but those classes are no longer tied to a location. For example, an online class can literally consist of 20 students in 20 different states. Based on the EAB's current fee structure, it can be cost prohibitive for schools to be approved to offer online courses in Wisconsin.

Confronted with this reality, an online school will choose to either not operate in the state or ignore the approval requirements. While a school that chooses not to operate in the state ultimately limits the educational opportunities available to Wisconsin residents, a school that ignores the need for approval sets in motion an enforcement effort that is legally complex, expensive, and time consuming.

Under current rule, a school meeting certain conditions may be granted a fee reduction. While this fee reduction might provide some relief, it is not an effective way to deal with the issue presented by distance learning providers. Moreover, the fee reduction was intended to address larger, traditional institutions.

The EAB seeks to address the reality of distance learning by more fairly regulating online schools, while maintaining adequate oversight. An initial school approval fee that recognizes the unique characteristics associated with online instruction will help encourage providers to have their online programs approved in Wisconsin. As required under 45.54 (10)(c), the new fee structure would need to be sufficient to cover the costs incurred by the EAB to approve the school.

- The rule makes changes to correct erroneous technical information and inconsistent references to other provisions.

During the most recent rule update in 1997, a number of references were inadvertently amended to reference erroneous provisions. The proposed rule amends those provisions to correct these errors.

TEXT OF RULE

SECTION 1. EAB 1 (Note) is repealed.

SECTION 2. EAB 1.01 is amended to read:

EAB 1.01 Definitions. In chs. EAB 1 to 11:

SECTION 3. EAB 1.01 (3) is repealed and recreated to read:

EAB 1.01 (3) CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE. "Constructive notice" means the period of time, designated by the school, after which a student will be considered withdrawn by the school, because the student failed to attend classes, utilize instructional facilities or submit lessons without providing, prior to or during that period, an explanation to the school regarding the inactivity.

SECTION 4. EAB 1.01 (7) is amended to read:

EAB 1.01 (7) DISTANCE ~~EDUCATION~~ LEARNING. "Distance ~~education~~ learning" means instruction provided by means other than face-to-face student to teacher interaction; including video, computer-based, and correspondence instruction.

SECTION 5. EAB 1.01 (10) is amended to read:

EAB 1.01 (10) GROSS ANNUAL SCHOOL REVENUES. "Gross annual school revenues" means the total revenues recognized in the school's method of accounting during the past fiscal year from the sale of goods and services to Wisconsin students, unreduced by any costs of the

sales. It includes all revenues from tuition, fees, books, supplies and equipment and includes revenues from room and board charges to Wisconsin students required to use room and board facilities which the school provided. It also includes all revenues from contracts with third parties to provide school goods and services to Wisconsin students or groups of Wisconsin students, such as ~~job training partnership~~ workforce investment act contracts, or contracts with employers to provide training to their employees.

SECTION 6. EAB 1.01 (19m) is created to read:

EAB 1.01 (19m) RECOGNIZED ACCREDITING BODY. "Recognized accrediting body" means a regional, national, or specialized accrediting agency recognized by the U.S. department of education under 20 USC 1099b for the purposes of federal Title IV funding under the higher education act of 1965.

SECTION 7. EAB 1.01 (20) is amended to read:

EAB 1.01 (20) REPRESENTATIVE. "Representative" means an individual employed by or representing a school who, in places other than the school, attempts to secure ~~student enrollments~~ enrollment agreements.

SECTION 8. EAB 1.01 (23) is repealed and recreated to read:

EAB 1.01 (23) SCHOOL. "School" means any person, located within or outside this state, maintaining, advertising or conducting a program for profit or a tuition charge not exempted under s.45.54 (1)(e), Stats.

SECTION 9. EAB 1.01 (26) is amended to read:

EAB 1.01 (26) SPONSOR. "Sponsor" includes any person or government agency who makes a payment on behalf of a student or awards a loan, grant or scholarship to a student.

SECTION 10. EAB 1.01 (29m) is created to read:

EAB 1.01 (29m) TEACH-OUT. "Teach-out" means an arrangement for the completion of an EAB-approved program in which a student is enrolled in the event of a school's closure or a school's failure to perform its contractual obligations.

SECTION 11. EAB 3 PROCEDURE (title) is amended to read:

EAB 3 PROCEDURE AND AUTHORITY

SECTION 12. EAB 3.02 (5) is amended to read:

EAB 3.02 (5) RULES OF ORDER. Meetings of the board shall be conducted according to and governed by Roberts Rules of Order except as otherwise provided in ~~these rules of procedure~~ this section or as adopted by resolution by the board.

SECTION 13. EAB 3.02 (8) is created to read:

EAB 3.02 (8) TELECONFERENCE. Members of the board may attend a properly noticed meeting of the board via teleconference or videoconference and shall have all rights and powers afforded to them as if they were physically present.

SECTION 14. EAB 3.03 is created to read:

EAB 3.03 DELEGATED AUTHORITY. Except as provided under s.EAB 4.01 (6), 4.08 (2)(b)2. and 10.04 (3), the board authorizes the executive secretary to act as its agent regarding all matters under chs. EAB 4 to 11.

SECTION 15. EAB 4.01 (1) is amended to read:

EAB 4.01 (1) APPROVAL REQUIRED. A school shall not operate, conduct business, offer any program, advertise or enroll students unless it has been approved or determined to be exempt under 45.54 (1)(e), stats. The board may issue a cease and desist order to any school that is in violation of this subsection.

SECTION 16. EAB 4.01 (2) is amended to read:

EAB 4.01 (2) INVESTIGATION AND INSPECTION. Upon application, the board ~~or staff~~ shall investigate and evaluate schools doing business within this state, whether located within or outside this state, and programs offered by these schools, and approve schools and programs including schools with branches in more than one location.

SECTION 17. EAB 4.01 (2m)(a) and (b) are created to read:

EAB 4.01 (2m) DENIAL OF APPROVAL. (a) The board may deny an initial request for school or program approval if the school fails to provide the information required under s. EAB 4.03 or fails to meet the criteria under s. EAB 4.04, as determined by the board.

EAB 4.01 (2m)(b) A decision to deny initial school approval shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the last address of record.

SECTION 18. EAB 4.01 (4m) is created to read:

EAB 4.01 (4m) INTERMEDIATE SANCTIONS. If a school fails to comply with the provisions under chs. EAB 4 to 11, the board may progressively impose one or more of the following sanctions.

(a) Require the submission and implementation of a school improvement plan to address or correct problems identified by the board.

(b) Suspend the ability of a school to enroll students for one or more of the approved programs offered by the school.

SECTION 19. EAB 4.01 (5)(a) and (b) are amended to read:

EAB 4.01 (5) REVOCATION OF APPROVAL. (a) Failure to maintain the standards or to comply with ~~the rules chs. EAB 4 to 11~~ or meet the requirements for approval shall result in revocation of either school or program approval, or both. ~~Notice of withholding or revocation of approval of a school or program shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the last address of the school involved.~~

EAB 4.01 (5)(b) Refusal by a school to allow reasonable inspection ~~by EAB staff~~, or to supply information after written request therefor or failure to comply with ~~any and all of these rules chs. EAB 4 to 11~~ shall be grounds for revocation of approval.

SECTION 20. EAB 4.01 (5m) (a) and (b) are created to read:

EAB 4.01 (5m) NOTICE. (a) Except as provided under par (b), an action to revoke a school's approval as provided under sub. (5) shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the last address of record, 20 days prior to the date on which the revocation is to be effective.

EAB 4.01 (5m)(b) The board may revoke a school's approval without notice if it determines that the health, safety, or financial welfare of any person is at risk.

SECTION 21. EAB 4.01 (6) is amended to read:

EAB 4.01 (6) HEARING. ~~Any school whose legal rights, duties, or privileges are directly affected by a board or staff action~~ (a) A school whose approval has been denied or revoked as provided under subs. (2m) or (5) may request a hearing before the board to contest the action taken. Such a hearing must be requested within 10 days of the effective date of the action taken after receiving notice. If a hearing is requested it will be held within a reasonable time after receipt of the request. Notice of such hearing shall be sent to the school 10 days prior to the date of such hearing, giving the school notice of date, time and place.

SECTION 22. EAB 4.01 (6)(b) is created to read:

EAB 4.01 (6)(b) Except as provided under sub. (5m)(b), if a school requests a hearing to contest an action under sub. (5), the board shall not revoke the school's approval until a hearing has been held and a final decision has been rendered.

SECTION 23. EAB 4.01 (7) is created to read:

EAB 4.01 (7) APPEAL. Any school who has contested an action under sub. (6) may appeal the decision of the board before an administrative law judge. A request for such a hearing must be requested within 10 days of the effective date of the action taken. Notice of such hearing shall be sent to the school 10 days prior to the date of such hearing, giving the school notice of date, time and place.

SECTION 24. EAB 4.02 (1), 4.03 (1)(i) and (n) are amended to read:

EAB 4.02 (1) CRITERIA. Schools planned or proposed for operation can be approved upon application as provided by s. EAB ~~4.05~~ 4.03 which gives evidence that the planned or proposed school meets approval requirements.

EAB 4.03 (1)(i) A surety bond as required by s. EAB ~~4.07~~ 4.06;

EAB 4.03 (1)(n) Any other information so that the school and its programs may be evaluated according to the criteria set forth in s. EAB ~~4.06~~ 4.04 .

SECTION 25. EAB 4.04 (8) is repealed

SECTION 26. EAB 4.06 (1), (3), and (5) are amended to read:

EAB 4.06 (1) As a condition of obtaining and retaining approval, a school must provide a surety bond on a board form in an amount equal to 125% of its highest point of unearned tuition from Wisconsin residents, but not less than \$10,000, and provide coverage for each representative in an amount of \$2,000 as specified in s. EAB 10.02.

EAB 4.06 (3) The surety bond shall provide indemnification to any student, parent, guardian, or sponsor suffering loss or damage as a result of any fraud or false representation used in procuring ~~his~~ a student's enrollment, violation of chs. EAB 3 ~~through to~~ 8, or ~~as a result of the student being unable to complete the course or courses~~ program or programs because the school failed to perform its contractual obligations with such student, or as a result of the student being refused a tuition refund to which the student is entitled under ch. EAB 8. Such indemnification under the surety bond shall, in no case, exceed the advanced tuition, book fees, supply fees, or equipment fees paid or liable to be paid for regardless of the number of years that a school's bond is in force, ~~the~~ The aggregate liability of the surety bond shall, in no event, exceed the penal sum of the bond. The surety bond may be continuous.

EAB 4.06 (5) The bonding requirements set forth in this section may be reduced upon a determination that it is excessive in relation to the risk of economic loss to which Wisconsin residents are exposed in the case of any particular school, upon evidence of a stable fiscal history, satisfactory completion and placement rates, accreditation by a recognized accrediting body ~~and~~ or other such stability criteria as the schools may offer for board review. ~~Schools shall have the opportunity to present their case for lowering the bond level either to staff or the board.~~

SECTION 27. EAB 4.06 (6) is created to read:

EAB 4.06 (6) The board may use a bond on which it has collected to arrange for a teach-out of the students who attended the bonded school.

SECTION 28. EAB 4.08 (2)(b)1., is amended to read:

EAB 4.08 (2)(b)1. If preliminary findings indicate a ~~violation(s)~~ violation of s. 45.54, stats. or chs. EAB 4 to 11, or of an established school policy, the board shall attempt, through mediation to bring about a settlement;.

SECTION 29. EAB 4.08 (2)(b)2., is repealed and recreated to read:

EAB 4.08 (2)(b)2. If a settlement proposed by the board is rejected by a school, the board may conduct a hearing and impose any of the intermediate sanctions under s. EAB 4.01 (4m) or subject the school to a summary suspension of its approval.

SECTION 30. EAB 4.10 (1)(e) is created to read:

EAB 4.10 (1)(e) If the board denies an initial school approval under s. EAB 4.01 (2m), the fees collected under this subsection shall be returned.

SECTION 31. EAB 4.10 (2)(g) is created to read:

EAB 4.10 (2)(g) The board may waive a fee under this subsection if it is less than \$50.

SECTION 32. EAB 4.10 (5)(c) and (d) are amended to read:

EAB 4.10 (5)(c) ~~The~~ Except as provided under sub. (f), the school shall submit to the board within 10 business days after the change of ownership or control an application reflecting the change of ownership or control and a fee of \$1,000.

EAB 4.10 (5)(d) If a school files an application requesting approval of a change of ownership or control more than 10 business days after the change of ownership or control takes effect, such an application will be considered as an application for initial approval, and the school shall pay the fees specified in sub. ~~(2)~~ (1).

SECTION 33. EAB 4.10 (5)(f) is created to read:

EAB 4.10 (5)(f) The fee charged under this par. may be waived if it is determined that no work will be required to process the change of ownership.

SECTION 34. EAB 4 (Note) is amended to read:

EAB 4 Note: A person may obtain a Single Application by writing the Educational Approval Board at P.O. Box ~~7874~~ 8696, Madison, WI ~~53707~~ 53708-8696, or by telephoning (608) 266-1996.

SECTION 35. EAB 7.02 (intro.) is amended to read:

EAB 7.02 **Records retention.** Each school shall maintain, for a minimum of 6 years from graduation or ~~termination~~ last date of attendance, student records that shall include at least the following:

SECTION 36. EAB 7.03 (intro.) is amended to read:

EAB 7.03 **Transcripts.** Each school shall provide upon request a transcript to the student who has satisfied all financial obligations currently due and payable to the school. A school

shall permanently retain original transcripts for all students. The transcript must provide at least the following:

SECTION 37. EAB 7.05 is created to read:

EAB 7.05 **Access to records.** The board shall maintain and make available records in its possession in accordance with retention and disposition authorization procedures established by the public records board and the federal family educational rights and privacy act (FERPA) of 1974 under 34 CFR Part 99.

SECTION 38. EAB 8.05 (intro) is amended to read:

EAB 8.05 **Partial refunds.** A student who withdraws or is dismissed after ~~attending at least one class or submitting at least one lesson~~ the period of time identified under s. EAB 8.03 (1) has passed, but before completing 60% of the potential units of instruction in the current enrollment period, shall be entitled to a pro rata refund, as calculated below, less any amounts owed by the student for the current enrollment period, less a one-time application fee of \$100.

SECTION 39. EAB 8.07 (2m) is created to read:

EAB 8.07 (2m) All schools shall have a constructive notice of an intention to withdraw policy.

SECTION 40. EAB 8.07 (3) is amended to read:

EAB 8.07 (3) For students receiving funds under Title IV ~~and Title 38~~, schools shall comply with applicable federal guidelines for providing constructive notice of an intention to withdraw.

SECTION 41. EAB 10.04 (3) is amended to read:

EAB 10.04 (3) **REQUEST FOR APPEARANCE.** Within 20 days of the receipt of notice of the board's refusal to issue or renew a permit or of the revocation of a permit, the applicant or holder of the permit may request ~~that he be permitted~~ to appear before the board in person, with or without counsel, to present reasons why the permit should be issued or reinstated. Upon receipt of such request, the board shall grant a hearing to the applicant or holder of the permit within 30 days, giving ~~him~~ the person at least 10 days notice of the date, time and place.

SECTION 42. EAB 11 is created to read:

Chapter EAB 11

DISTANCE LEARNING

EAB 11.01 Principles.

- (1) The board acknowledges that distance learning, especially via the Internet, presents a materially new context for the state's responsibility to protect consumers by regulating private, postsecondary schools.
- (2) The board believes the following principles should guide its regulation of private, postsecondary schools offering programs primarily through distance learning:
 - (a) The board's regulatory process ought to encourage schools offering programs through distance learning to become approved since the board's consumer protection role works best when schools are approved.
 - (b) The board's regulatory process must be rigorous and standards-based so only quality schools are approved to provide options to Wisconsin residents.
 - (c) While the board's regulatory process must be rigorous and consistent with the basic school approval process, it should also be user-friendly to schools using distance learning and honor other rigorous state approval processes so schools do not have to duplicate effort and incur unreasonable costs.
 - (d) The board's regulatory process should include a fee structure that pays for itself, is fair to the other approved schools, and is not cost prohibitive to schools using distance learning.

EAB 11.02 Definitions.

In this chapter, "distance learning program" means that a school uses distance learning to deliver more than 50 percent of a program.

EAB 11.03 Standards for distance learning programs.

A private, postsecondary school delivering distance learning programs shall meet the following standards:

- (1) The program shall be consistent with the school's mission.
- (2) The learning outcomes promised to students shall be achievable with the technology used.
- (3) The school shall use appropriate and effective instructional materials and teaching methods to ensure active student involvement.
- (4) The program shall be developed by qualified faculty, administrators and technologists.
- (5) Accepted students shall have the background, knowledge and technical skills needed to complete the program.

- (6) The school shall provide for assessment and documentation of student achievement during the program and at its completion.
- (7) The school shall ensure appropriate learning resources are available to students.
- (8) The school shall provide adequate support services for students.
- (9) The school shall demonstrate it has adequate financial resources to support the program.
- (10) The school shall demonstrate the educational effectiveness of its programs including assessment of student learning outcomes, student retention, student completion, and student and employer satisfaction, where relevant.

EAB 11.04 Application for approval.

- (1) Except as provided under s.45.54 (1)(e)(8), a school shall apply for approval upon board forms meeting the requirements of s. EAB 4.03.
- (2) If a school has approval from another state, which is substantially equivalent to the requirements of s. EAB 4.03 and meets the standards of s. EAB 11.03, the board may accept that state's approval as fulfilling all or parts of the approval process.

EAB 11.05 Fees.

- (1) For a school that delivers a distance learning program, it shall pay the highest applicable fee specified in s. EAB 4.10(1)(a)1 to 5 and \$500 for each additional or new program.
- (2) Except as provided for in sub. (1), schools approved under this section shall be subject to all other fees under EAB 4.10.

SECTION 43. EFFECTIVE DATE. This rule shall take effect on the first day of the month following publication in the Wisconsin administrative register as provided in s.227.22(2) (intro.) Stats.

Date at Madison, Wisconsin, February 25, 2003

STATE OF WISCONSIN
EDUCATIONAL APPROVAL BOARD



David C. Dies, Executive Secretary